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INTRODUCTION 
 

The Petition seeks an ill-informed rush to judgment – a request consistent with a 

whirlwind of media attention, dramatic replacement of an elected official, criminal 

investigations, and charged political accusations. But if one steps back for a moment, the 

totality of the Petition alleges – at most -- several technical violations of election regulations, 

none of which justify removal of an elected official. A basic understanding of the applicable 

law shows that the Petition is devoid of any cause of action, and instead relies upon alleged 

technical regulatory violations to seek a wholly unprecedented remedy—one that would 

directly contravene unambiguous statutory law. 

To be sure, the Petitioners and Intervenor claim they must protect Mesa County’s 

elections. But their concern for elections does not appear to include respect for the results of 

an election. Namely, they seek to remove an elected clerk and recorder – one who has 

competently run seven elections – from her statutory duties. They essentially say they do not 

trust Mesa County’s elected Clerk and Recorder, and therefore they can get rid of her.  

This position has no support in Colorado law. 

Under the plain statutory language and controlling case law, the Secretary may not 

bring a claim under C.R.S. § 1-1-113, nor may she combine a separate claim and rely on an 

elector to accomplish the same ends. This procedural failure is matched by the Petitioners’ 

inability to identify any statute that either Respondent purportedly violated. At most the 

Secretary identifies several technical regulatory violations, only one of which actually cites a 

relevant regulation. And even there, the Secretary has ignored the regulatory remedy in her 
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own, legally-binding, regulation. In short, there is no legal basis to declare a fictional 

“absence,” remove an elected Clerk and Recorder (or her deputy) from her duties, and give 

the Secretary (or the Intervenor) the power to choose a replacement. 

This court should take a step back from the emotionally charged atmosphere, apply 

the law, and decline the Secretary’s unlawful efforts to remove an elected official from her 

duties. 

ARGUMENT 
 
A. The Secretary may not file a 113 petition, nor may she obtain the benefits of a 

113 action by combining it with a different procedure. 
 

The Secretary and an elector have both filed a Verified Petition for Relief Under C.R.S. 1-

10-113 (the “Petition”).1 But under the plain language of the statute, the Secretary has no 

standing to bring a Section 113 action and should therefore be immediately dismissed from 

this case. 

Words and phrases are construed according to “grammar and common usage,” and 

“[i]f the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, [a court] will apply it as written—

venturing no further.”2 Under the plain language of the statute, only private parties may 

bring an action under Section 113: 

                                                 
1 Although “verified,” the Petition it is signed by only by an elector (and not the 

Secretary). Despite her signature, the elector has no personal knowledge of many (and 
perhaps all) of the factual allegations contained in the Petition. 

 
2 Griswold v. Warren, 462 P.3d 1081, 1084, (Colo 2020) (internal quotation and citation 

omitted).  
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When any controversy arises between any official charged with any duty or 
function under this code and any candidate, or any officers or representatives of a 
political party, or any persons who have made nominations or when any eligible elector files a 
verified petition in a district court of competent jurisdiction alleging that a person 
charged with a duty under this code has committed or is about to commit a 
breach or neglect of duty or other wrongful act . . .3 

 
This section does not create a cause of action, but rather is a procedural vehicle only.4 

Those entitled to avail themselves of this procedure are limited to (1) candidates, (2) political 

party representatives, (3) persons who have made nominations, and (4) eligible electors. It 

does not allow an official to bring an action against another official. Simply put, the Secretary 

-- acting in her official capacity -- is not and cannot be one of these private actors.  

Indeed, the Colorado Supreme Court has recognized that Section 113 applies only to 

a petition filed by an eligible elector. The Section:  

requires the district court, upon a finding of good cause, to issue an order requiring 
substantial compliance with the provisions of the election code whenever any eligible 
elector files a verified petition alleging that a person charged with a duty under the code 
has committed a breach or neglect of that duty or other wrongful act5 
 

By its plain terms, the Secretary may not bring a Section 113 proceeding and she must be 

dismissed immediately.  

Even though the Secretary may not bring a petition under Section 113, she attempts 

to obtain the benefits from a Section 113 proceeding by citing C.R.S. § 1-1-107(2)(d) and 

                                                 
3 C.R.S. § 1-1-113(1) (emphasis added). 
 
4 Carson v. Reiner, 370 P.3d 1137, 1141 (Colo. 2016). 
 
5 Id. (emphasis supplied). 
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C.R.C.P. 57. Section 107(2)(d) authorizes a different procedure – the Secretary may seek 

injunctive relief to enforce the election code. And C.R.C.P. 57 governs procedures for 

declaratory relief. But this effort fails for three reasons. First, the Petition clearly and 

unambiguously seeks relief under Section 113 only, and mere citation of different provisions 

cannot transform a Section 113 proceeding into something else, circumventing the statutory 

scheme enacted by the General Assembly.  

Second, under its plain language, Section 113’s summary proceedings are the 

exclusive manner for adjudicating a breach or neglect of duty: 

Except as otherwise provided in this part 1, the procedure specified in this 
section shall be the exclusive method for the adjudication of controversies 
arising from a breach or neglect of duty or other wrongful act that occurs 
prior to the day of an election.6 
 

As the language makes clear, this is an exclusive proceeding to litigate election 

disputes, except for certain exceptions within part 1 of the Code. Those exceptions 

must be identified and litigated according to the applicable procedure. Thus, Section 

107(2)(d) authorizes the Secretary to bring an enforcement action, but without any 

special procedures. 

Third, Frazier v. Williams is binding authority on this issue. There, the 

Colorado Supreme Court made clear that Section 113 proceedings stand on their own 

and may not be combined with other proceedings. The Frazier court rejected an 

effort to combine Section 113 with constitutional claims arising from the same 

                                                 
6 C.R.S. § 1-1-113(4) (emphasis supplied). 
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conduct. The court reasoned, in part, that due to “substantial inconsistences between 

[42 U.S.C. §] 1983 and section 1-1-113 proceedings, section 1-1-113 does not provide 

an appropriate procedure for adjudicating section 1983 claims.”7 Those same 

inconsistencies cited by the court apply here – Section 113 has unique appellate 

procedures and strictly limits the class of complainants who can utilize the procedure. 

Indeed, Section 113 and Section 107 identify two different and mutually exclusive 

types of complainants.  

The Frazier court also spelled out – in detail – the proper procedure a district 

court should implement when a different procedure is combined with a Section 113 

proceeding: “the district court should dismiss the [non-Section 113] claim without 

prejudice with leave to refile it in a separate action, which should then be assigned, 

where possible, to the same judge.”8 

B. This Court should dismiss the Petition, because neither the substantial 
compliance doctrine nor equitable remedies provide any basis for relief.  

 
The Petition lists two claims for relief; “[s]ubstantial Compliance under C.R.S. §§ 1-1-

113 and 1-1-107(2)(d)”9 and “[a]lternatively, injunctive and declaratory relief under C.R.C.P. 

57.”10  

                                                 
7 Frazier v. Williams, 401 P.3d 541, 545 (Colo. 2017). 
 
8 Id.  

 
9 Petition at 9. 

 
10 Petition at 11. 
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1. A request for injunction or declaratory relief does not establish a claim. 

Most easily disposed of is the second claim for relief. A request for injunctive or 

declaratory relief does not establish a claim or give this court jurisdiction over the Petition. 

Rather, relief under C.R.C.P. 57 is a “remedy . . . [that] neither expands nor contracts the 

jurisdiction of Colorado’s courts.”11 Accordingly, the Petitioners must still plead some 

underlying statute under which they seek relief. Declaratory and injunctive relief were “never 

intended to be a substitute for, or a short cut to, proper pleading.”12  

 That leaves the first claim for relief – substantial compliance.  

2. “Substantial compliance” is a compliance standard, not a cause of action. 
  

An understanding of substantial compliance doctrine – its content and use – shows 

that “substantial compliance” itself does not create a cause of action. Rather, courts (and 

administrators) rely upon the standard in order to interpret technical violations of the 

election code in a way that “avoid[s] potential constitutional difficulties” – particularly in 

areas where voters exercise their “fundamental rights.”13 For example, in Erickson v Blair the 

Court overlooked certain legal noncompliance, because “[a]bsentee voting legislation should 

not be construed in a manner that unduly interferes with the exercise of this right by those 

otherwise qualified to vote.”14 

                                                 
11 Romer v. Fountain Sanitation Dist., 898 P.2d 37, 41 (Colo. 1995). 

 
12 Home Owners’ Loan Corporation v. Meyer, 136 P.2d 282, 285 (Colo. 1943). 

 
13 Meyer v. Lamm, 846 P.2d 862, 876 (Colo. 1993). 

 
14 Erickson v. Blair, 670 P.2d 749, 754 (Colo. 1983). 



8 
 

The substantial compliance standard is one of leniency. Under this standard, courts 

allow conduct that does not strictly comply with a statute. In other words, courts generally 

frown upon rigid enforcement of election laws. Accordingly, when considering laws of a 

more technical nature, “courts should construe such provisions to be directory in nature and 

not mandatory.”15 This rule of leniency is reflected in C.R.S. 1-1-103(3), which states 

“Substantial compliance with the provisions or intent of this code shall be all that is required 

for the proper conduct of an election to which this code applies.”16 Use of the word “all” 

indicates that substantial compliance is less than full (or strict) compliance with the code. 

Although the Colorado Supreme Court has traced the common law roots of the 

substantial compliance standard back to the late 1800’s,17 the court did not fully develop the 

doctrine until a trio of cases in 1993-1994. In Meyer v. Lamm, (decided in 1993), the court 

accepted write-in votes for a candidate, even if the write-in votes did perfectly not match the 

candidates first and last name.18 The next year, in Bickel v. City of Boulder, the court held that a 

district need only substantially comply with certain ballot notice requirements for a tax 

increase. Most importantly, Bickel set out the three-part test for determining whether 

                                                 
 

15 Bickel v. City of Boulder, 885 P.2d 215, 226, (Colo. 1994 ). 
 
16 C.R.S. § 1-01-103(3) (emphasis supplied). 
 
17 Meyer v. Lamm, 846 P.2d 862, 877 (Colo. 1993). 
 
18 Meyer v. Lamm, 846 P.2d 862, 877 (Colo. 1993). 
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substantial compliance applies. In determining whether one has “substantially complied” 

with a provision, courts will consider the following three (nonexclusive) factors: 

(1) the extent of the district’s noncompliance with respect to the challenged 
ballot issue, that is, a court should distinguish between isolated examples 
of district oversight and what is more properly viewed as systematic 
disregard of Amendment 1 requirements,  
 

(2) the purpose of the provision violated and whether that purpose is 
substantially achieved despite the district’s noncompliance, and  

 
(3) whether it can reasonably be inferred that the district made a good faith 

effort to comply or whether the district’s noncompliance is more properly 
viewed as the product of an intent to mislead the electorate.19 

 
This test remains in place today, and it has been applied to a wide variety of actors, such as 

individuals, petition circulators, candidates, campaigns, and officials. 

 Lastly is Loonan v. Woodley, also decided that same year. The court applied the 

substantial compliance test but determined that petition circulators’ use of an outdated and 

incorrect circulator affidavit did not substantially comply with Colorado law.20  

 Shortly after this trio of cases, the Colorado General Assembly in 1996 formally 

incorporated this court-created doctrine into the Colorado Election Code, as C.R.S. § 1-1-

103(3).21 Accordingly, the General Assembly relied upon the court standards in order to 

                                                 
19 Bickel v. City of Boulder, 885 P.2d 215, 227 (Colo. 1994). 
 
20 Loonan v. Woodley, 882 P.2d 1380, 1386 (Colo. 1994). 
 
21 H.B. 96-1061, 60th General. Assembly, 2d Reg. Sess. (Colo. July 1, 1996). C.R.S. § 1-1-

103(3) (1996). 
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“make[] substantial compliance with the Code sufficient for properly conducting an 

election.”22 

But despite the substantial compliance language in Sections 103 and 113, “there are 

some aspects of the Code that simply cannot be subject only to substantial compliance.”23 

Where a statutory provision is “clear, direct and specific,” 24 or “clear and unequivocal”25 

substantial compliance will not apply, and strict compliance applies. Thus, substantial 

compliance substantial did not excuse the signature requirements of 1,500 signatures per 

congressional district for state candidate petitions,26 and “residency is not a mere technical 

requirement that is subject to substantial compliance. . . . A person either is a resident for 

purposes of the Election Code or he is not.”27 

 In short, substantial compliance cannot stand on its own. In order to apply, 

substantial compliance must apply to something. And that something is an underlying statute. 

Accordingly, the Petition’s substantial compliance claim for relief is not really a “claim.” 

Rather, substantial compliance is an interpretive rule, which the Petition dresses up as a claim 

                                                 
22 Office of Legislative Legal Services, Digest of Bills Enacted by the Sixtieth General 

Assembly (June 1996), p. 206. 
 
23 Griswold v. Warren, 462 P.3d 1081, 1085 (Colo. 2020). 
 
24 Loonan v. Woodley, 882 P.2d 1380, 1384 (Colo. 1994). 
 
25 Griswold v. Warren, 462 P.3d 1081, 1086 (Colo. 2020). 
 
26 Griswold v. Warren, 462 P.3d 1081, 1086 (Colo. 2020). 
 
27 Kuhn v. Williams, 418 P.3d 478, 489 n. 4. (Colo. 2018). 
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for relief. But the Petition does not identify a single claim for relief and should be promptly 

dismissed. 

3. Substantial compliance provides no basis for removing and replacing a 
designated election official 

 
Substantial compliance does not apply in this case, for several fundamental reasons.  

As noted above, the standard is an interpretive standard, not a cause of action. But 

even under its own terms, it does not apply.  

First, Colorado statute is “clear, direct, and specific” and “clear and unequivocal”:  

[T]he county clerk and recorder shall be the chief designated election official 

for all coordinated elections.”28  

 
Use of the word “shall” is mandatory language,29 and accordingly the clerk and recorder 

must serve as the chief designated election official for all coordinated elections, like the 

upcoming odd year coordinated election. Neither the Secretary, nor an elector, nor the 

Intervenor may designate someone else in place of the statutorily mandated county clerk and 

recorder. Likewise, Colorado statute is clear, direct, specific and unequivocal that the deputy 

clerk and recorder has unfettered discretion to exercise the “power and authority” of the 

clerk and recorder “in the absence of the county clerk and recorder or if the county clerk and 

recorder for any reason is unable to perform the required duties.”30 This language reflects 

                                                 
28 C.R.S. § 1-1-110(3). 
 
29 See, e.g., Plains Metro. Dist. v. Ken-Caryl Ranch Metro. Dist., 250 P.3d 697, 700 (Colo. app. 

2010). 
 

30 C.R.S. 1-1-110(2). 
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the general authority of the deputy clerk and recorder to assume all of the clerk’s 

responsibilities, “in case of the absence or disability of the county clerk, or in case of a 

vacancy in the office thereof.”31  

To be sure, the Secretary asks this Court to remove the deputy clerk and recorder and 

appoint a replacement (in the form of an elections director). But under Colorado law, 

“[e]very county clerk shall appoint a deputy, in writing, under the county clerk’s hand, and 

shall file such appointment in the office of the county clerk.”32 The Secretary has no 

authority to appoint, or remove. 

Because these provisions are clear, direct, specific, and unequivocal, substantial 

compliance does not apply. Furthermore, the deputy clerk’s appointment and authority to 

assume the clerk’s duties fall outside of the election code, and accordingly outside of the 

substantial compliance standard and outside of the boundaries of a Section 113 proceeding.  

Second, the petition identifies no statute that authorizes the Secretary or an elector to 

remove and replace the clerk or the deputy clerk from their duties as designated election 

official or deputy. Substantial compliance means “compliance” with an existing provision in 

law -- not compliance with a different, undefined authority to remove and replace officials. 

Because there is no statute to be “complied” with, substantial compliance itself does not 

even apply. 

                                                 
31 C.R.S. § 30-10-403. 
 
32 Id. 
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Third, this shortcoming is highlighted by the Petition’s failure to even plead the three-

part test necessary to apply the substantial compliance standard. In short, the Petition does 

not even contain the basic, factual allegations concerning any potential noncompliance. 

Bickel v. City of Boulder set forth the basic factual tests one most meet in order to invoke 

substantial compliance. But the Petition completely avoids this test, for the simple reason that 

merely articulating the test reveals that the “substantial compliance” standard cannot apply 

here. 

Fourth, the substantial compliance test is a rule of leniency. It allows courts and 

administrators to overlook violations of the law, based upon the extent of noncompliance, 

whether noncompliance was willful, and whether the purposes of the statute were achieved. 

If the standard were to apply, it would enable this court to overlook any noncompliance by 

the clerk. It would not, however, enable the Secretary (and an elector) the ability to remove 

the Clerk and Deputy Clerk. In short, substantial compliance is a shield, used to excuse 

certain noncompliance with the laws. But here, the Secretary seeks to weaponize the 

substantial compliance standard, turn it into a sword, and completely remove an elected 

official from her statutorily authorized duties. 

Applying the three-prong substantial compliance test demonstrates that Clerk Peters’ 

actions were appropriate. Under the first prong of the test, Clerk Peters allowed one non-

employee to access the electronic vote-tabulating equipment in two isolated instances, only, 

using an industry-standard process to image the equipment hard drive before the trusted 

build, and to image the hard drive after the trusted build, without altering any data. She did 
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not allow unfettered access by additional people over any other periods. And at the time, the 

Secretary’s rules allowed non-employees to access equipment, as discussed below. 

Accordingly, any alleged non-compliance was extremely limited. 

Under the third prong, Clerk Peters authorized access for the purpose of protecting 

data and complying with both state and federal law. Under state law, the clerk must 

“preserv[e]…any election records for a period of at least twenty-five months,33 and under 

federal law, an election official must “preserve, for a period of twenty-two months” after a 

federal election all records related to that election.34 Failure to do so is a crime. Likewise, 

after hearing multiple reports and concerns about fraud, Clerk Peters also authorized the 

images in order “to prevent fraud and corruption in elections.”35 In short, her goal was to 

follow the law; she did not intend to mislead the electorate. 

And finally, under the second prong of the test, the statutory purpose was achieved. 

Clerk Peters’ actions in fact preserved records and complied with state and federal law. The 

statutory duty to preserve records falls to the clerk and recorder as the designated election 

official.36 And according to the hard drive image analysis, the trusted build process destroyed 

                                                 
33 C.R.S. § 1-7-802. 

 
34 52 U.S.C. § 20701. 

   
35 C.R.S. § 1-103-1. 

 
36 C.R.S. § 1-7-802. 
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an “extensive” volume of election records.37 Without Clerk Peters’ actions, a substantial 

number of election records would have been permanently destroyed. 

4. Despite pages and pages of allegations and exhibits, the Petition never alleges a 

breach of any statute. 

The Petition details a litany of alleged wrongdoing. And as discussed below, it alleges 

the violation of several rules, which it characterizes as “breaches.” But in order to obtain 

relief, the Petition must allege a violation of a statute. This may seem basic on its face, but it is 

a fundamental omission. Section 113 only allows a court to issue an order requiring 

substantial compliance with the provisions of this code.”38 And “this code” is defined in 

Colorado’s very first statute: “Articles 1 to 13 of this title shall be known and may be cited as 

the “Uniform Election Code of 1992”; within these articles, “this code” means the “Uniform 

Election Code of 1992.”39 Likewise, the substantial compliance standard also is limited: 

“Substantial compliance with the provisions or intent of this code shall be all that is required 

for the proper conduct of an election to which this code applies.”40 And finally, the Colorado 

Supreme Court has emphasized this limitation, holding that “this court has jurisdiction to 

consider only claims of ‘breach or neglect of duty or other wrongful act’ under the Colorado 

                                                 
37 Respondents’ Counterclaims and Cross Claims, Exhibit G, at 2. 

 
38 C.R.S. § 1-01-113(1). 

 
39 C.R.S. § 1-1-101. 

 
40 C.R.S. 1-1-103(3). 
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Election Code when a petition is brought through a section 1-1-113 proceeding.”41 The 

substantial compliance claim for relief must be dismissed, because that claim is not grounded 

in a statutory violation. Likewise, this Section 113 proceeding should be dismissed entirely, 

because the Petition does not allege a statutory violation. 

 And even the regulatory “breaches” have no substance behind them. Despite its long 

narrative, the Petition alleges a total of four violations by Clerk Peters, and one by Deputy 

Clerk Knisley. On closer examination, only one so-called “breach” offers anything on its 

face, and even that provides no basis for the Petition’s request for relief. 

 Paragraph 55 of the Petition lists a total of four alleged “breaches” against Clerk 

Peters. They are: 

Failing to maintain adequate documentation of chain of custody of voting machines 

required by Election Rule 20.3.1. This accusation seemingly relies on two alleations: (1) 

“Because video surveillance was turned off before the May 25 trusted build, the chain of 

custody after the trusted build could not be confirmed;”42 and (2) “Chain of custody logs 

showed that several voting machines were not sealed to secure the equipment until 1-2 days 

after the trusted build installation, which left open the opportunity for tampering with the 

machines.”43 

                                                 
41 Kuhn v. Williams, 418 P.3d 478, 489 (Colo. 2018) (emphasis in original). 
 
42 Petition, ¶ 45b 

 
43 Petition, ¶ 45 c. 
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The first supporting claim isn’t even a rule violation. Rather, according to the Petition, 

“Sometime before the May 25 trusted build, the video surveillance in the Mesa County 

Clerk’s Office was turned off. It was not fully restored until August 2021. This act was 

outside of the normal business practice of Mesa County, which routinely maintains 24 hours 

surveillance in these areas.”44 In other words, this part of the “breach” did not even violate a 

rule, which only requires video surveillance 90 days before an election and 30 days after.45  

Rather, the Secretary complains that Clerk Peters did something outside of her “normal 

business practice.” In her flawed chain of logic, she claims video surveillance was outside the 

Clerk’s normal business practice, which violated some nonexistent rule about business 

practices (but which actually complies with the applicable rule), which created a “breach” of 

a duty, which now justifies removing and replacing the clerk.  

The second supporting claim is a failure to maintain a chain of custody log. The 

Petition admits there were chain of custody logs. Rather, the Secretary says they were not 

“adequate,” a word that does not appear in Rule 20.3.1. In other words, the Secretary 

disapproved of what was recorded in chain of custody logs. But the clerk and recorder’s 

office clearly kept the logs. 

Even assuming the Clerk’s noncompliance with Rule 20.3.1, the fact is that Rule 

20.15 contains a remedy for violations of Rule 20. That remedy was passed by the Colorado 

Secretary of State, and she must also follow her own Rule -- she must follow the law, just 

                                                 
44 Petition ¶ 31. 

 
45 8 CCR § 1505-1, Rule 20.9.2 
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like everybody else. And Rule 20.15 lays out detailed procedures if “a seal is broken or there 

is another discrepancy.”46 The remedies can be summarized as technical ways to reinstall a 

trusted build, reset passwords, or take other action to restore equipment to a condition in 

which it can be used.47  

Because the Rule contains its own remedy, at most the Secretary may demand 

compliance with the rule and the included remedy. Even if the Secretary could somehow 

overcome the jurisdictional and statutory defects detailed above, at most she can obtain an 

order demanding compliance with Rule 20.3.1. And that compliance is carefully detailed in 

the remedy section contained in Rule 20.15. And more broadly, this Rule provides no basis 

to remove and replace an elected official. 

Failing to ensure a secure process for the May 25 trusted build, in violation of 

Election rule 20.5.4. By implying that Rule 20.5.4 “ensures” a “secure process,” the Petition 

fundamentally misleads this Court. That is a strong word, but accurate. In May of 2021, Rule 

20.5.4 stated, in its entirety, as follows: 

20.5.4. Non-county employee access  
 
(a) All vendors who conduct work on any component of a county’s voting 
system must conduct a criminal background check on each employee prior to 
the employee’s work with the voting system. The vendor must affirm that the 
check was conducted in writing to the Secretary of State prior to the employee 
conducting any work. Any person convicted of an election offense or an 
offense with an element of fraud is prohibited from working on any 
component of a county’s voting system.  

                                                 
46 8 CCR § 1505-1, Rule 20.15.1. 

 
47 8 CCR § 1505-1, Rule 20.15.1(a) and Rule 20.15.1(b)(1) through (5). 
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(b) All Secretary of State staff who conduct work on any component of a 
county’s voting system must undergo a criminal background check prior to 
the staff’s work with the voting system. Any person convicted of an election 
offense or an offense with an element of fraud is prohibited from working on 
any component of a county’s voting system.48 

 
As of May 25, 2021, Rule 20.5.4 did not govern the process of the trusted build, 

except to the extent that it expressly allowed a clerk and recorder to authorize non-county 

employee access to a county’s voting system. The rule set forth two conditions: the 

requirement of a background check of any person working on the equipment, and the 

prohibition of any person convicted of certain crimes. 

 So why does the Petition cite rule 20.5.4? 

 Because on June 17, 2021, three weeks after the events of May 25, 2021, the Secretary 

adopted an emergency rule that rewrote Rule 20.5.4 to prohibit non-employees.49 That new 

rule created additional conditions that applied to the trusted build process. Only then did 

Rule 20.5.4 prohibit non-employees. But even then, the new Rule 20.5.4 contained its own 

remedy, consistent with the general remedy contained in Rule 20.15. Specifically, “[a]ny 

violation of Rule 20 may result in the prohibition or limitation on the use of, as well as 

decertification of, a county’s voting system or components.”50  In any event, Rule 20.5.4 

cannot be applied retroactively. 

                                                 
48 8 CCR § 1505-1, Rule 20.5.4 (effective Sept. 4, 2020) (Respondents’ Counterclaims and Cross 

Claims, Exhibit B). 
 
49 Respondents’ Counterclaims and Cross Claims, Exhibit C. 

 
50 8 CCR § 1501-1, Rule 20.5.4(e). 
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Allowing unauthorized individuals to be present during the May 25 trusted build. 

This so-called violation was not a violation on May 25, even under the Petition’s allegations. 

As detailed above, the rule in effect on May 25th specifically permitted the clerk to authorize 

non-employees to access equipment, or enter the room, during the trusted build process. 

Failing to cooperate with state and local election officials’ efforts to respond to and 

minimize the damage caused by the above breaches. This allegation does not even cite a rule. 

And if there is one thing that the Petition makes clear, it is that the Secretary had full access to 

all records and took extremely aggressive action as a result of her accusations. She may be 

unhappy that Clerk Peters and Deputy Clerk Knisley have not immediately proclaimed the 

wisdom of the Secretary’s position and resigned their positions, but it is difficult to 

understand how either county official has in any way blocked or limited the Secretary.   

The one allegation against Deputy Clerk Knisley is that she “[f]acilitat[ed] the 

improper presence of the individual identified as Gerald Wood at the May 25 trusted 

build.”51 Again, on May 25, 2021, the Secretary’s regulations expressly allowed the clerk and 

recorder’s office to allow non-employees access to voting system equipment. 

C. The Secretary may not declare an “absence” and remove a duly elected Clerk; 
her powers are limited to enforcing specific provisions in the Election Code. 
 
Assuming that this Court properly dismisses the Section 113 action and later allows 

the Secretary to re-file a complaint under Section 107, it nonetheless remains true that 

                                                 
51 Petition at ¶ 56. 
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Colorado law does not give the Secretary authority to remove and replace a designated 

election official. 

The Secretary’s authority is set forth in C.R.S. § 1-1-107, and at most she has 

authority to “supervise the conduct of primary, general, congressional vacancy, and statewide 

ballot issue elections in this state.”52 This authority is confined to supervising the “conduct” 

of an election, not removing or replacing officials. The word “supervise” does not include 

the power to remove or replace personnel. It is limited to “coordinate, direct and inspect 

continuously and at first hand the accomplishment: oversee the powers of direction and 

decision the implementation of one’s own or another’s intention.”53 Accordingly, the 

Secretary may properly argue that she “oversees clerks to ensure that they are complying 

with election laws and regulations.54 But this is a far cry from removing and replacing a 

designated election official.  

Section 107 also precisely identifies the Secretary’s authority – and limitations – on 

her enforcement powers. She may “enforce the provisions of this code by injunctive action 

brought by the attorney general in the district court for the judicial district in which any 

violation occurs.”55 This section authorizes enforcement of the Election code and injunctive 

                                                 
52 C.R.S. § 1-1-107(1)(a). 

 
53 Webster’s Third New International Dictionary, Unabridged (1993) 2296. 

 
54 Gessler v. Myers, Case No. 2011 CV 9, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, p. 9 

(Sagauche County Dist. Ct. 2011) (Exhibit A). 
 

55 C.R.S. § 1-1-107(2)(d). 
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relief – not declaratory relief, and not the ability to bring a Section 113 proceeding. Any 

enforcement action must be grounded in statute, and here no statute provides authority to 

remove and replace a clerk and recorder. And the Secretary may not create new procedures 

that are not authorized by law.56 

The case Gessler v. Myers shows how the Secretary can and must exercise her 

authorities under Section 107. During the 2010 election cycle, the Secretary received multiple 

complaints about the conduct of the election, and accordingly he sent personnel to the 

Saguache County Clerk and Recorder’s office throughout the cycle, on election night, and 

during a recount.57 Indeed, the problems were severe enough that the initial vote tabulation 

did not balance, and even the retabulation had to be corrected.58 But despite serious 

problems leading up to and during the election, the Secretary never sought to remove and 

replace the clerk. 

Later, the Secretary sought to conduct a hand re-count of ballots, and the Clerk 

refused to allow access to the ballots. This non-cooperation was far more serious than any 

alleged in the Petition. And appropriately, the Secretary sought injunctive relief under Section 

107 – he did not bring a 113 action in conjunction with an elector, did not seek a court 

declaration of an “absence,” and did not seek to replace the designated election official. 

                                                 
56 De Koevend v. Board of Education, 688 P.2d 219, 229 (Colo. 1984). 

 
57 Secretary of State Bernie Buescher served as Secretary during the 2010 election. 

 
58 Gessler v. Myers at 2-4. 



23 
 

The Secretary and an elector seek a wholly disproportionate response to anything 

alleged in the Petition. At most, they identify one rule violation, which itself identifies a 

remedy that includes re-setting the equipment, or in an extreme case decertifying election 

equipment. The Secretary has already taken those steps. But now she wants to remove and 

replace a designated election official. This has never been done before, it has no basis in 

Colorado law, and it is completely unnecessary. Clerk Peters and Deputy Clerk Knisley have 

successfully run seven elections, including four elections in 2020. They are capable public 

servants. And they are fully willing and ready to cooperate with the Secretary’s supervision of 

the conduct of Colorado’s elections.  

D. The Board of County Commissioners has no authority to appoint a clerk and 
recorder or a “designated election official.”  

 
Like the Secretary, the Board of County Commissioners wants to seize control of 

Mesa County’s elections. But whereas the Secretary asks for the ability to designate an 

election official until November 2, 2021, the Board of County Commissioners wants to 

order a post-election hand count of ballots, as well as run election operations into 2022. But 

Colorado law vests this responsibility with an elected county clerk and recorder, not a board. 

The Board of County Commissioners first argues that by physically inserting two 

people and attempting to block the Clerk and Deputy Clerk from directing Mesa County’s 

elections, the Secretary has created a vacancy in the position of county clerk and recorder.59 

This is fiction. Vacancies are governed by C.R.S. § 30-10-105, which lists seven reasons for a 

                                                 
59 Board of County Commissioners’ Counterclaims and Cross Claims, ¶ 19. 
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vacancy: death, resignation, removal, residency, refusal of oath or bond, voided election or 

appointment, and incapacitation.60 None of these apply, and grounds for a vacancy do not 

include an edict of “absence” from the Secretary, or the Secretary’s unlawful efforts to block 

a clerk and recorder from doing her job. 

Absent a bona fide vacancy, the Board of County Commissioners does not have 

authority to appoint a Clerk and Recorder. Colorado statute is clear; if the Clerk and 

Recorder is absent, the Deputy Clerk and Recorder “shall perform all the duties of the 

county clerk during such absence or until such vacancy is filled.”61 And more specifically for 

the case at hand:  

All powers and authority granted to the county clerk and recorder by this code 
may be exercised by a deputy clerk in the absence of the county clerk and 
recorder or if the county clerk and recorder for any reason is unable to 
perform the required duties.62 
 
In addition, the Board of County Commissioners argues it has the authority to 

appoint a Designated Election Official. This argument readily fails.  

First, as noted above, Colorado statute directly, specifically, and without qualification 

states that “[a]s the chief election official for the county, the county clerk and recorder shall 

be the chief designated election official for all coordinated elections.”63 

                                                 
60 C.R.S. § 30-10-105(1)(a) through (g). 

 
61 C.R.S. § 30-10-403. 

 
62 C.R.S. § 1-1-110(2). 

 
63 C.R.S. § 1-1-110(3). 
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Second, the Board erroneously relies on the definition contained C.R.S. § 1-1-104, 

which states that the term Designated Election Official “means the member of a governing 

board, secretary of the board, county clerk and recorder, or other person designated by the 

governing body as the person who is responsible for the running of an election.”64 This 

section is not a grant of appointment power, but rather a description. Indeed, use of the 

word “means” reinforces the descriptive nature of Section 104(8). And this makes sense. 

The Election Code applies to many different types of elections, including “all general, 

primary, congressional vacancy, school district, special district, ballot issue, [] other 

authorized elections[, and] any municipal election conducted as part of a coordinated 

election.65 As a matter of drafting efficiency and global application, the Code repeatedly 

refers to the duties of a designated election official, and depending on the jurisdiction and 

the type of election, that election official may be a governing board, board secretary, county 

clerk and recorder, or person designated the by governing body of the jurisdiction holding 

that particular election. But with respect to county and state elections, Section 110(3) makes 

clear — in mandatory terms — that the designated election official is the county clerk and 

recorder. 

Third, when interpreting statutory provisions, courts seek to “give consistent effect to 

all parts of a statute, and construe each provision in harmony with the overall statutory 

                                                 
64 C.R.S. § 1-1-104(8) (emphasis supplied). 

 
65 C.R.S. § 1-1-102(1). 
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design.”66 If accepted by this Court, the Board of County Commissioner’s argument that 

Section 104 gives them designation authority would create a direct conflict with Section 

110(3), which states that the county clerk and recorder shall be the county’s designated 

election official. The only way to harmonize these two provisions is to recognize that Section 

110(3)’s use of the mandatory “shall” directs that the clerk and recorder must serve as the 

county designated election official, and that Section 104(8) recognizes the clerk’s authority 

when referring to the “designated election official.” 

Finally, Section 110(3) specifically grants authority to the county clerk and recorder, 

while Section 104(8) more vaguely refers to a “governing body,” without ever identifying 

county commissioners. Accordingly, one must “give effect” to the “special, or more specific, 

provision” in Section 110(3).67 

The Board of County Commissioners cannot overcome the specific and direct 

statutory mandate that the Clerk and Recorder serves as the county’s designated election 

official. It cannot seize control of the county’s election apparatus. 

Respectfully submitted this 22nd day of September 2021, 
 

GESSLER BLUE LLC 
 

 
         s/ Scott E. Gessler  
 Scott E. Gessler 

 
 

                                                 
66 In re Associated Governments of Northwest Colorado v. Colorado PUC, 275 P.3d 646, 649 (Colo. 

2012). 
 
67 Carson v. Reiner, 370 P.3d 1137, 1142 (Colo. 2016). 
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